








The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Bangkok Branch

Statement of Financial Position (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Notes

Thousand 

Baht

Thousand 

Baht

other branches abroad of the same juristic person

Deposits 15 105,690,931 130,696,847

Interbank and money market items 16, 22 25,524,852 14,639,433

Liabilities payable on demand 2,844,002 2,190,895

Liabilities to deliver security - 3,030,804

Derivative liabilities 7 37,480,656 47,041,198

Debt issued and borrowings 17 9,088,650 16,159,170

Employee benefit obligations 18 225,073 196,648

Provisions 19 152,348 173,148

Other liabilities 20 8,867,823 8,656,221

189,874,335 222,784,364

the same juristic person

5 20,100,000 20,100,000

other branches of the same juristic person 22 9,651,832 14,185,571

Other components of accounts with head office and other

branches of the same juristic person 49,145 164,741

5,487,666 2,874,920

of the same juristic person 35,288,643 37,325,232

other branches of the same juristic person 225,162,978 260,109,596

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Net balance of inter-office accounts with head office and 

Total accounts with head office and other branches 

Total liabilities and accounts with head office and 

Liabilities and accounts with head office and

Retained earnings

Total liabilities

Accounts with head office and other branches of 

Net funds brought in to maintain assets under the Act

Liabilities
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Bangkok Branch

Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Notes

Thousand 

Baht

Thousand 

Baht

Interest income 22, 26 4,019,318 4,145,900

Interest expense 22, 27 1,688,053 1,767,323

Net interest income 2,331,265 2,378,577

Fees and service income 994,600 936,598

Fees and service expenses 175,570 189,065

Net fees and service income 22, 28 819,030 747,533

Net gain on trading and foreign exchange transactions 29 2,195,252 1,771,102

Net gain on investments 30 - 57,889

Other operating income 22 13,617 4,020

Total operating income 5,359,164 4,959,121

Other operating expenses 

   Employee expenses 23, 32 1,159,059 1,220,957

   Premises and equipment expenses 351,328 397,810

   Taxes and duties 69,803 72,105

   Other expenses 22, 33 521,313 527,255

Total other operating expenses 2,101,503 2,218,127

Bad debts, doubtful accounts expense and 

   impairment loss 31 (9,306) 165,134

Operating profit before income tax expense 3,266,967 2,575,860

Income tax expense 34 654,221 514,027

Net profit 2,612,746 2,061,833

Other comprehensive income

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Losses on remeasurement of available-for-sale investments (146,244) (26,520)

Other reserves 4,417 6,804

Income taxes relating to items that will be reclassified

   to profit or loss 29,249 5,304

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial losses 18 (3,773) (11,167)

Income taxes on items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 34 755 2,233

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax (115,596) (23,346)

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,497,150 2,038,487

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Bangkok Branch

Statement of Changes in Head Office and Other Branches of the Same Juristic Person

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Net balance of

Net funds brought inter-office accounts Gains (losses)

in to maintain  with head office and on remeasurement

assets under other branches of the of available-for-sale Retained

the Act same juristic person investments Other reserves earnings Total

Thousand Baht Thousand Baht Thousand Baht Thousand Baht Thousand Baht Thousand Baht

18,750,000 7,166,579 134,019 54,068 2,163,087 28,267,753

- - - - 2,061,833 2,061,833

G

a
- - (21,216) - - (21,216)

A

c
Actuarial losses, net of income tax - - - (8,934) - (8,934)

O

t
Others, net of income tax - - - 6,804 - 6,804

Total other comprehensive income - - (21,216) (2,130) - (23,346)

- - (21,216) (2,130) 2,061,833 2,038,487

M

o 1,350,000 - - - - 1,350,000

and other branches of the same juristic person - 7,018,992 - - - 7,018,992

- - - - (1,350,000) (1,350,000)

20,100,000 14,185,571 112,803 51,938 2,874,920 37,325,232

20,100,000 14,185,571 112,803 51,938 2,874,920 37,325,232

- - - - 2,612,746 2,612,746

G

a
- - (116,995) - - (116,995)

A

c
Actuarial losses, net of income tax - - - (3,018) - (3,018)

O

t
Others, net of income tax - - - 4,417 - 4,417

Total other comprehensive income - - (116,995) 1,399 - (115,596)

- - (116,995) 1,399 2,612,746 2,497,150

M

o

and other branches of the same juristic person - (4,533,739) - - - (4,533,739)

20,100,000 9,651,832 (4,192) 53,337 5,487,666 35,288,643

Losses on remeasurement of available-for-sale investments, net of income tax

Balance at 31 December 2015

Movement in balance of inter-office accounts with head office

Total comprehensive income for the year

Comprehensive income for the year

Increase in fund

Movement in balance of inter-office accounts with head office

Balance at 31 December 2016

Losses on remeasurement of available-for-sale investments, net of income tax

Profit remittance to head office

Balance at 1 January 2016

Other comprehensive income

Other components of accounts with 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Comprehensive income for the year

Net profit

same juristic person

head office and other branches of the

Balance at 1 January 2015

Net profit

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Bangkok Branch

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Thousand Baht Thousand Baht

Cash flows from operating activities

3,266,967 2,575,860

Adjustments to reconcile profit from operations before

income tax expense to cash received (paid) from 

operating activities

Depreciation and amortisation 25,859 28,509

Bad debt, doubtful accounts expense and impairment loss (9,306) 165,134

Unrealised losses (gains) on revaluation of trading investment 841,893 (376,185)

Gains on disposal of equipment (45) (184)

Unrealised losses on change in foreign exchange 100,614 1,128,305

Unrealised losses (gains) on derivative assets and liabilities 267,931 (1,141,875)

Provisions for contingent liabilities - 118

Increase in other reserves 7,632 158

Net interest income (2,331,265) (2,378,577)

Proceeds from interest income 4,069,780 4,201,745

Interest paid (1,707,391) (1,781,406)

Income tax paid (755,938) (44,899)

Net profit from operations before change in 

operating assets and liabilities 3,776,731 2,376,703

11,377,738 5,831,395

714,866 (8,269,551)

5,337,916 (13,115,907)

675,919 (1,298,091)

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities

Deposits (24,906,371) 14,925,486

Interbank and money market items 10,889,053 (4,243,341)

Liabilities payable on demand 653,106 (986,935)

Debt issued and borrowings (7,070,521) 666,404

Employee benefit obligations 24,652 12,493

Provisions (20,214) (19,534)

Other liabilities 187,499 3,852,377

1,640,374 (268,501)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Operating profit before income tax expenses

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Other assets

Decrease (increase) in operating assets

Interbank and money market items

Trading investment

Loans to customers
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Bangkok Branch

Statement of Cash Flows (Cont'd)

For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Thousand Baht Thousand Baht

Cash flows from investing activities

Decrease (increase) in available-for-sale investments 2,926,907 (6,754,489)

Purchases of equipment (4,888) (13,522)

Proceeds from sales of equipment 45 1,812

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 2,922,064 (6,766,199)

Cash flows from financing activities

(Decrease) increase in net balance of inter-office accounts with 

   head office and other branches of the same juristic person (4,584,117) 7,018,992

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (4,584,117) 7,018,992

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (21,679) (15,708)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 50,382 66,090

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 28,703 50,382

Non-cash transactions

Funds brought in to maintain assets under the Act transferred 

   from retained earnings which remitted profit to head office - 1,350,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Bangkok Branch  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2016 
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1 General information 
 
 
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Bangkok Branch (“the Branch”) has its 
registered office at 968 Rama IV Road, Silom, Bangrak, Bangkok 10500. 
 
The head office of the Branch is The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (“the 
Head Office”), which is incorporated in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s 
Republic of China, with limited liability. 
 
The principal activities of the Branch are to provide a wide range of banking services to corporate 
customers. 
 
The Branch’s financial statements have been approved for issue by the Branch’s management on  
14 February 2017. 
 
 

2 Significant accounting policies 
 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Branch financial statements are 
set out below: 
 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 

 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Thai financial reporting standards 
(“TFRS”) under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543, being those Thai financial reporting standards 
issued under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547.  The primary financial statements are 
prepared in the full format as required by the Notification of the Bank of Thailand (“BoT”), no. 
Sor Nor Sor 21/2558 Re: The preparation and announcement of the Financial Statements of 
Commercial Bank and Holding Parent Company of Financial Group dated 4 December 2015. 
 
The Branch’s financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Thai generally accepted accounting 
principles requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Branch’s accounting policies.  The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4, Fair value of financial 
instruments. 
 
An English version of the financial statements have been prepared from the statutory financial 
statements that are in the Thai language.  In the event of a conflict or a difference in interpretation 
between the two languages, the Thai language statutory financial statements shall prevail. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 
2.2 New financial reporting standards and revised financial reporting standards and interpretations 

 
2.2.1 New financial reporting standards and revised accounting standards, revised financial 

reporting standards are effective on 1 January 2016. These standards are relevant to 
the Branch. 

 
a) New/revised financial reporting standards and interpretation which are relevant and 

have a significant impact to the Branch: 
 

TAS 16 (revised 2015) Property, Plant and Equipment 
TAS 19 (revised 2015) Employee benefits 
TAS 24 (revised 2015) Related Party Disclosures 
TAS 36 (revised 2015) Impairment of Assets 
TAS 38 (revised 2015) Intangible Assets 
TFRS 2 (revised 2015) Share-based Payment 
TFRS 13 (revised 2015) Fair Value measurement 
 
TAS 16 (revised 2015), ‘Property, plant and equipment’ clarifies how the gross 
carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are treated where an entity uses 
the revaluation model. 
 
TAS 19 (revised 2015), ‘Employee benefits’ is amended to apply to contributions 
from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans and to clarify the accounting 
treatment of such contributions. The amendment distinguishes between contributions 
that are linked to service only in the period in which they arise and those linked to 
service in more than one period. 
 
TAS 24 (revised 2015), ‘Related party disclosures’ includes as a related party an 
entity that provides key management personnel services to the reporting entity or to 
the parent of the reporting entity (the ‘management entity’). Disclosure of the amounts 
charged to the reporting entity is required. 
 
TAS 36 (revised 2015), ‘Impairment of assets’ is amended to provide additional 
disclosure requirement when the recoverable amount of the assets is measured at 
fair value less costs of disposal. The disclosures include 1) the level of fair value 
hierarchy and 2) when fair value measurement categorised within level 2 and level 
3, disclosures is required for valuation technique and key assumption.   
 
TAS 38 (revised 2015), ‘Intangible assets’ is amended to clarify how the gross 
carrying amount and the accumulated amortisation are treated where an entity uses 
the revaluation model. 
 
TFRS 2 (revised 2015), ‘Share-based payments’ clarifies the definition of a ‘vesting 
condition’ and separately defines ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’. 
 
TFRS 13 (revised 2015), ‘Fair value measurement’ is amended to clarify that the 
portfolio exception in TFRS 13 applies to all contracts (including non-financial contracts) 
within the scope of TAS 39 (when announced) or TFRS 9 (when announced). 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 

2.2 New financial reporting standards and revised financial reporting standards and interpretations 
(Cont’d) 

 
2.2.2 New financial reporting standards, revised accounting standards and revised financial 

reporting standards are effective on 1 January 2017.  These standards are relevant to 
the Branch and are not early adopted. 
 
a) Financial reporting standards, which have significant changes and are relevant to 

the Branch: 
 
TAS 1 (revised 2016) Presentation of financial statements 
TAS 16 (revised 2016) Property, Plant and Equipment 
TAS 19 (revised 2016) Employee benefits 
TAS 38 (revised 2016) Intangible Assets 

 
TAS 1 (revised 2016), the amendments provide clarifications on a number of issues, 
including: 
 
- Materiality - an entity should not aggregate or disaggregate information in a 

manner that obscures useful information. Where items are material, sufficient 
information must be provided to explain the impact on the financial position or 
performance.  

- Disaggregation and subtotals - line items specified in TAS 1 may need to be 
disaggregated where this is relevant to an understanding of the entity's financial 
position or performance. There is also new guidance on the use of subtotals.  

- Notes - confirmation that the notes do not need to be presented in a particular 
order.  

- OCI arising from investments accounted for under the equity method - the share 
of OCI arising from equity-accounted investments is grouped based on whether 
the items will or will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss. Each group 
should then be presented as a single line item in the statement of other comprehensive 
income. 

 
TAS 16 (revised 2016), key amendments are 1) The amendments clarify that depreciation 
of an item of property, plant and equipment based on revenue generated by using 
the asset is not appropriate and 2) The amendments include bearer plants in scope 
of TAS 16. 
 
TAS 19 (revised 2016), the amendments clarify that when determining the discount 
rate for post-employment benefit obligations, it is the currency that the liabilities are 
denominated in that is important and not the country where they arise. 
 
TAS 38 (revised 2016), the amendments include a rebuttable presumption that the 
amortisation of intangible assets based on revenue is inappropriate. This presumption 
can be overcome if either the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue 
(i.e. where a measure of revenue is the limiting factor on the value that can be 
derived from the asset), or it can be shown that revenue and the consumption of 
economic benefits generated by the asset are highly correlated. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 
2.3 Foreign currency translation 

 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 

 
Items included in the financial statements of the Branch are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’) 
as Thai Baht.  

 
(b) Transactions and balances 

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the dates of 
the transactions or the date of remeasurement.  Gains and losses on settlement of foreign 
currency or translation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss 
 
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, 
any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.  
Conversely, when a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit and loss, 
any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit and loss. 

 
 

2.4 Cash 
 
Cash consists of cash on hand and cash on collection. 
 
 

2.5 Investments 
 
Investments in debt securities and equity securities 

 
Debt securities and marketable equity securities that the Branch intends to hold for a short 
period of time in order to take advantage of anticipated changes in the underlying market value 
are classified as being held-for-trading investments and stated at fair value.  Gains or losses 
on remeasuring investments are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Debt securities that the Branch has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are 
classified as held-to-maturity investments.  Held-to-maturity investments are stated at 
amortised cost, less any impairment losses.  The difference between the acquisition cost and 
redemption value of such debt securities is amortised using the effective interest rate method 
over the period to maturity. 
 
Debt securities and marketable equity securities, other than those securities held for trading or 
intended to be held to maturity, are classified as available-for-sale investments.  Available-for-
sale investments are, subsequent to initial recognition, stated at fair value, and changes 
therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale 
monetary items, are recognised directly in the accounts with head office and other branches of 
the same juristic person.  Impairment losses and foreign exchange differences are recognised 
in profit or loss.  When these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised directly in the accounts with head office and other branches of the same 
juristic person is recognised in profit or loss.  Where these investments are interest-bearing, 
interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Equity securities which are not marketable are stated at cost less impairment loss. 
 
The fair value of the financial instruments classified as held-for-trading and available-for-sale is 
determined as the quoted bid price at the reporting date. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 
2.5 Investments (Cont’d) 

 
Investment recognition 
 
The Branch recognised and eliminated such items in these financial statements using the 
settlement date method. 
 
Disposal of investments 
 
On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount together with the associated cumulative gain or loss that was reported in the accounts 
with head office and other branches of the same juristic person is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
If the Branch disposes of part of its holding of a particular investment, the carrying amount of 
the part sold is determined using the weighted average method applied to the carrying value of 
the total holding of the investment. 
 
 

2.6 Loan to customers 
 
Loan to customers represent loans originated by the Branch, which are not intended to be sold 
in the short term and have not been classified as held for trading.  Loans are recognised when 
cash is advanced to borrowers.  They are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less impairment losses. 
 
 

2.7 Allowance for doubtful accounts 
 
The Branch provides an allowance for doubtful accounts equal to the estimated losses that 
may be incurred in the collection of all receivables.  The estimated losses are calculated by 
discounting expected future cash flows (inclusive of the value of security) using a discount 
rate, which includes a premium for uncertainty of the cash flows. 
 
The BoT has guidelines for establishing a minimum level of allowance for doubtful accounts, 
which is primarily determined by applying specified percentages to the different classifications 
of financing in conjunction with the consideration of collateral valuation.  Financing 
classifications are based principally on the period that a financing is past due.  The Branch has 
set up, at a minimum, the allowance for doubtful accounts according to the BoT regulations. 
 
With reference to the BoT’s directive, the Branch has classified its loan portfolios into six 
categories, primarily based on the overdue period.  For loans classified as pass and special-
mention, the calculation of allowances for doubtful accounts is based on the regulatory 
minimum percentage requirement, taking into consideration the collateral value, where the 
collateral type and date of the latest appraisal are qualifying factors.  For loans classified as 
sub-standard, doubtful and doubtful of loss, the allowance on these accounts will be set at 100 
percent of the difference between the outstanding book value of the debt and the present 
value of future cashflows expected to be received or the expected proceeds from the disposal 
of collateral, in accordance with BoT criteria. 
 
The allowance for doubtful accounts established during the year is charged as an expense in 
profit or loss. 
 
Bad debts written off or recovered are recorded as charges or credit, respectively, to the 
allowance for doubtful accounts.  
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 

2.8 Restructured loans 
 
The Branch classified restructured loans as performing when there is appropriate evidence 
that the restructured terms can be met.  At a minimum, restructured terms involving periodic 
repayments must be met without exception for a three-payment period before a restructured 
loan can be reclassified. 
 
 

2.9 Leasehold improvements and equipment 
 
All other leasehold improvements and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Branch and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount and are recognised within ‘other (losses)/gains - net’ in profit or loss. 
 
 

2.10 Leasehold right for land and buildings 
 
Leasehold right for land and buildings is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.  The amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease period of 28 years. 
 
 

2.11 Impairment  
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows.  Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 

2.12 Current and deferred income taxes  
 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit 
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income 
Accounts with head office and other branches of the same juristic person. In this case the tax 
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or Accounts with head office and other 
branches of the same juristic person, respectively. 
 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period in the countries where the Branch operate 
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. 
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the 
tax authorities. 
 

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
from differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in 
the financial statements. 
 

However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the 
end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax 
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a 
net basis.  
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 
2.13 Financial instruments 

 
Derivatives 
 
Derivative financial instruments are used to manage exposure to interest and foreign 
exchange rates and arising from operational, financing and investment activities.  Derivative 
financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading 
instruments. 
 
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value from the date a derivative contract is entered 
into (trade date) and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value.  The gain or loss on 
remeasurement is recognised immediately in profit or loss.  However, where derivatives qualify 
for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss on remeasurement depends on 
the nature of the item being hedged. 
 
All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive as “Derivatives assets” and as 
liabilities when fair value is negative as “Derivatives liabilities” in the statements of financial 
position. 
 
The Branch designated derivatives as either: (1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets 
or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedge) or (2) hedges of highly probable future 
cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability, or a forecast transaction (cash flow 
hedge).  Hedge accounting is applied for derivatives designated as fair value or cash flow 
hedges, provided certain criteria are met. 
 
Fair value hedge 
 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as fair value hedges 
are recorded in the profit or loss, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged 
asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. 
 
If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying 
amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used shall be amortised to 
the profit or loss over the period to maturity. 
 
Cash flow hedge 
 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and 
qualified as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income.  Any gain or 
loss relating to an ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are recycled through profit or loss in 
the periods in which the hedged item will affect profit or loss. 
 
Discontinuing hedge accounting 
 
Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is 
sold, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.  Any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument existing in accounts with head office and other branches of the same juristic person 
is retained in accounts with head office and other branches of the same juristic person and is 
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss.  When a 
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was 
reported in accounts with head office and other branches of the same juristic person is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 
2.14 Employee benefits 

 
Post-employment benefits 
 
The Branch operates a number of employee benefit plans as follows: 
 
Defined contribution plan 
 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan where the Branch pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity (provident fund) and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans 
are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which 
services are rendered by employees. 
 
Defined benefit plans 
 
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution 
plan.  The Branch’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated 
separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior years; that benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value.  The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on government 
bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Branch’s obligations and that 
are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid.  The 
calculation is performed by an actuary using the projected unit credit method. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses that arise are recognised in other comprehensive income.  
 
Equity compensation plan 

 
Where shares of HSBC Holdings Plc., the ultimate parent company of the Head Office, are 
awarded to an employee of the Branch, the cost of shares awarded is amortised over the 
vesting period from the date the shares are awarded. 
 
For share options, the compensation expense to be spread over the vesting period is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the options on grant date, and the impact of any 
non-market vesting conditions such as option lapses.  The compensation expense is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.  Where the Branch is not charged for this by 
Head Office, the corresponding amount is credited to “other reserves” in accounts with head 
office and other branches of the same juristic person. 
 
Short-term employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided. 
 
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the 
Branch has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past 
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 

2.15 Share-based payment 
 
The Branch enters into equity-settled share-based payment arrangements with its employees 
as compensation for services provided by employees.  The cost of equity-settled share-based 
payment arrangements with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of equity 
instruments on the date they are granted and recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding credit to ‘Other Comprehensive Income’. 
 
A cancellation that occurs during the vesting period is treated as an acceleration of vesting 
and is recognised immediately for the amount that would otherwise have been recognised for 
services over the vesting period. 
 
HSBC Holdings is the grantor of its equity instruments for all share awards across the group.  
The credit to ‘Other reserves’ over the vesting period on expensing an award represents the 
effective capital contribution from HSBC Holdings.  To the extent the group will be, or has 
been, required to fund a share-based payment arrangement, this capital contribution is 
reduced and the fair value of shares expected to be released to employees is recorded within 
‘Other liabilities’. 

 
 
2.16 Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Branch has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
 
 

2.17 Interest income and expense 
 
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised in 
interest income and interest expense in profit or loss using the effective interest rates of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities to which they relate. 
 
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  When 
calculating the effective interest rate, the Branch estimates cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument but not future credit losses.  The calculation 
includes all amounts paid or received by the Branch that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 
 
 

2.18 Non-interest income and expenses 
 
Fees and commission income are recognised in profit or loss when the services are rendered. 
 
Non-interest expenses are recognised on an accrual basis. 
 
 

2.19 Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of 
financial position when the Branch has a legal, enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and the transactions are intended to be settled on a net basis. 
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3 Financial risk management 
 
 
The Branch has following risks from financial instruments: 
 
 
3.1 Credit risk 

 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 
resulting in a financial loss to the Branch.  The Branch has adopted a policy of dealing with 
credit worthy counterparts and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security, where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial losses from defaults. 
 
In respect of recognised financial assets, the carrying amount of the assets recorded in the 
statements of financial position, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, represents the 
Branch’s exposure to credit loss. 
 
The Branch’s exposure to credit loss in case of non-performance by a counterparty to the 
financial instruments is represented by the contractual notional amount of those instruments. 
 
Credit risk also arises from the possibility that a counterparty to off-financial reporting financial 
instruments will not adhere to the terms of the contract with the Branch when settlement 
becomes due. 
 
Off-financial reporting financial instruments classified by type and at regulatory credit 
equivalent values as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as follows: 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Forward exchange contracts 16,970 20,652 
Forward interest rate contracts 17,991 22,476 

Equity options 28 155 
   

Total 34,989 43,283 

 
 

3.2 Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices, 
foreign exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s 
credit standing) will affect the Branch’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. 
 
The Branch faces three major types of market risk namely interest rate risk, foreign exchange 
rate risk and equity price risk. 
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3 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 
 
 
3.2 Market risk (Cont’d) 

 
(a) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk arises from the potential for a change in interest rates which may have an 
adverse effect on the value of the Branch’s financial instruments or Branch’s earnings or 
cost of funds, both in the current reporting period and future years.  Interest rate risk arises 
from the structure and characteristic of the Branch’s assets, liabilities and accounts with 
head office and other branches of the same juristic person, and from the mismatch in 
repricing dates of its assets and liabilities.  The Branch mitigates this risk by using 
derivative financial instruments, principally interest rate swaps, to manage its exposure to 
fluctuations in interest rates on specific financial instruments. 
 
As at 31 December 2016, significant financial assets and liabilities classified by type of 
interest rate were as follows: 
 
 2016 

  
Floating 

 
Fixed 

Non - 
interest 

 

 interest rate interest rate bearing Total 
 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 

Financial assets     
Cash - - 29 29 
Interbank and money     
   market items, net 1,632 31,521 2,798 35,951 
Investments, net 6 43,548 41,155 84,709 
Loans to customers(1) 41,048 25,027 180 66,255 
Other assets 716 - 394 1,110 
     

Total financial assets 43,402 100,096 44,556 188,054 
     

Financial liabilities     
Deposits 78,329 13,026 14,336 105,691 
Interbank and money     
   market items 4,966 15,190 5,369 25,525 
Liabilities payable on     
   demand - - 2,844 2,844 
Debt issued and borrowings 8,989 100 - 9,089 
Other liabilities 6,756 - 2,112 8,868 
     

Total financial liabilities 99,040 28,316 24,661 152,017 
     

Effect of derivatives held      
   for risk management (2,905) 2,905 421,148 421,148 
     

Avals to bill and guarantee on loan - - 674 674 
Letters of credit - - 946 946 
Other contingencies - - 117,061 117,061 

 

(1) Loans to customers net of deferred revenue 
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3 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 
 
 
3.2 Market risk (Cont’d) 

 
(a) Interest rate risk (Cont’d) 

 
As at 31 December 2015, significant financial assets and liabilities classified by type of 
interest rate were as follows:  
 
 2015 

  
Floating 

 
Fixed 

Non - 
interest 

 

 interest rate interest rate bearing Total 
 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 

Financial assets     
Cash - - 50 50 
Interbank and money     
   market items, net 500 43,576 3,256 47,332 
Investments, net 2,712 43,733 42,894 89,339 
Loans to customers(1)  

Other assets 
41,650 
1,398 

29,863 
- 

207 
406 

71,720 
1,804 

     

Total financial assets 46,260 117,172 46,813 210,245 

     
Financial liabilities     
Deposits 101,836 18,879 9,982 130,697 
Interbank and money     
   market items 4,162 6,849 3,628 14,639 
Liabilities payable on     
   demand - - 2,191 2,191 
Debt issued and borrowings 
Other liabilities 

16,061 
7,126 

98 
- 

- 
1,530 

16,159 
8,656 

     

Total financial liabilities 129,185 25,826 17,331 172,342 

     
Effect of derivatives held      
   for risk management (29,632) 29,632 366,703 366,703 

     
Avals to bill and guarantee on loan - - 643 643 
Letters of credit - - 749 749 
Other contingencies - - 131,373 131,373 

 

(1) Loans to customers net of deferred revenue  
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3 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 
 
 
3.2 Market risk (Cont’d) 
 

(a) Interest rate risk (Cont’d) 
 
Details of the Branch’s interest rate risk based on the period to the earlier of the 
contractual repricing date or maturity at 31 December 2016 were as follows: 
 
 2016 

     Non-  Average 

 Less than 3 months  1 to 5 Over  interest  interest 
 3 months to 1 year years 5 years bearing Total rate 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
(% per  

annum) 

Financial assets        
Cash - - - - 29 29 - 
Interbank and money market         
   items, net 33,001 152 - - 2,798 35,951 1.64 
Investments, net 18,656 39,647 14,978 11,428 - 84,709 1.94 
Loans to customers and accrued        
   interest receivable, net  52,784 8,575 3,449 357 150 65,315 2.45 
Other assets 716 - - - 394 1,110 1.04 
        

Total financial assets 105,157 48,374 18,427 11,785 3,371 187,114  

        
Financial liabilities        
Deposits 90,443 912 - - 14,336 105,691 0.75 
Interbank and money market items 20,156 - - - 5,369 25,525 2.13 
Liabilities payable on demand - - - - 2,844 2,844 - 
Debt issued and borrowings 6,616 2,473 - - - 9,089 2.93 
Other liabilities  6,756 - - - 2,112 8,868 0.78 
        

Total financial liabilities 123,971 3,385 - - 24,661 152,017  

        
Effect of derivatives held for risk         
   management 31,277 (37,469) 33 6,159 421,148 421,148  

        

Avals to bill and guarantee on loan - - - - 674 674  
Letters of credit - - - - 946 946  
Other contingencies - - - - 117,061 117,061  
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3 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 
 
 
3.2 Market risk (Cont’d) 

 
(a) Interest rate risk (Cont’d) 

 
Details of the Branch’s interest rate risk based on the period to the earlier of the 
contractual repricing date or maturity at 31 December 2015 were as follows: 
 
 2015 

     Non-  Average 

 Less than 3 months  1 to 5 Over  interest  interest 
 3 months to 1 year years 5 years bearing Total rate 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
(% per  

annum) 

Financial assets        
Cash - - - - 50 50 - 
Interbank and money market         
   items, net 43,842 234 - - 3,256 47,332 1.80 
Investments, net 24,354 35,139 16,086 13,760 - 89,339 2.14 
Loans to customers and accrued        
   interest receivable, net  58,685 7,978 3,648 319 169 70,799 2.45 
Other assets 1,398 - - - 406 1,804 0.37 
        

Total financial assets 128,279 43,351 19,734 14,079 3,881 209,324  

        
Financial liabilities        
Deposits 118,143 2,572 - - 9,982 130,697 0.85 
Interbank and money market items 11,011 - - - 3,628 14,639 1.23 
Liabilities payable on demand - - - - 2,191 2,191 - 
Debt issued and borrowings 13,716 2,345 98 - - 16,159 3.19 
Other liabilities  7,126 - - - 1,530 8,656 0.39 
        

Total financial liabilities 149,996 4,917 98 - 17,331 172,342  

        
Effect of derivatives held for risk         
   management 14,624 (18,065) (5,441) 8,882 366,703 366,703  

        

Avals to bill and guarantee on loan - - - - 643 643  
Letters of credit - - - - 749 749  
Other contingencies - - - - 131,373 131,373  

 
The Branch manages interest rate risk by means of an appropriate structuring of holdings 
in assets and liabilities with different repricing dates, taking into account the direction of market 
interest rates, in order to generate a suitable yield while maintaining risk at acceptable levels. 

 
(b) Foreign exchange risk 

 
Foreign exchange rate risk is the risk that occurs from changes in foreign exchange rates 
which may affect the value of the Branch’s financial instruments or may cause volatility in 
the Branch’s earnings or cost of funds.  Tools adopted for managing foreign exchange rate 
risk are for instance, limited open positions and Value at Risk (“VaR”).   
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Branch has net open position assets (liabilities) 
denominated in the various currencies as follows; 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Net foreign currency exposure*   
US Dollar (5,045) (14,439) 
Euro 1,642 536 
Yen (250) (35) 
Pound (33) (36) 
Singapore Dollar (3,731) 27 
Others (13) (30) 
 
* No non-performing loans amounting in foreign currency exposure at 31 December 2016 

and 2015.  
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3 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 
 
 
3.2 Market risk (Cont’d) 

 
(c) Equity price risk 

 
Equity price risk is any risk arising from changes in the price of equities or common stock 
that may cause volatility in the Branch’s earnings or fluctuations in the value of the 
Branch’s financial assets. The Branch manages its equity price risk by close monitoring of 
market situations to provide information for management. 
 
 

3.3 Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Branch either does not have sufficient financial resources 
available to meet the obligations as they fall due, or can only access these financial resources 
at excessive cost. 
 
The objective of the Branch’s liquidity and funding management framework is to ensure that all 
foreseeable funding commitments can be met when due.  Therefore, the Branch is required to 
maintain strong liquidity positions and to manage the liquidity profiles of assets, liabilities and 
commitments with the objective of ensuring that cash flows are balanced appropriately and 
that all anticipated obligations can be met when due. 
 
The Branch monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by management to finance the Branch’s operations and to mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 
 
The Branch manages its liquidity position under the Bank of Thailand’s guideline on Liquidity 
Coverage Ratio and other applicable regulations.  The Treasury Department is accountable for 
managing the Branch’s liquidity position by providing short-term and long-term funding sources 
as well as investing in highly liquid assets in both domestic and foreign currencies.  The 
Branch also ensures that its liquidity position is suitable and sufficient for the current and 
foreseeable market conditions.  The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee supervises 
management of liquidity risk. 
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3 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 
 
 

3.3 Liquidity risk (Cont’d) 
 
A maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was as 
follows: 
 
 2016 

  Less than 3 months 1 to 5 Over No  
 At call 3 months to 1 year years 5 years maturity Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
        

Financial assets        
Cash - - - - - 29 29 
Interbank and money market items, net 3,288 32,511 152 - - - 35,951 
Derivative assets 158 3,570 6,554 16,593 10,838 - 37,713 
Investments, net - 18,656 39,647 14,978 11,428 - 84,709 
Loans to customers and accrued         
   interest receivable, net - 34,941 4,788 21,221 4,365 - 65,315 
Other assets - 716 - - - 394 1,110 
        

Total financial assets 3,446 90,394 51,141 52,792 26,631 423 224,827 

        
Financial liabilities        
Deposits 92,665 12,114 912 - - - 105,691 
Interbank and money market items 10,335 15,190 - - - - 25,525 
Liabilities payable on demand 2,844 - - - - - 2,844 
Derivative liabilities 157 3,240 7,586 15,636 10,862 - 37,481 
Debt issued and borrowings - - 99 5,287 3,703 - 9,089 
Other liabilities - 6,756 - - - 2,112 8,868 
        

Total financial liabilities 106,001 37,300 8,597 20,923 14,565 2,112 189,498 

        

Liquidity gap, net (102,555) 53,094 42,544 31,869 12,066 (1,689) 35,329 

 
 2015 

  Less than 3 months 1 to 5 Over No  
 At call 3 months to 1 year years 5 years maturity Total 

 Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

        

Financial assets        
Cash - - - - - 50 50 
Interbank and money market items, net 3,544 43,554 234 - - - 47,332 
Derivative assets 130 4,009 7,393 24,028 11,981 - 47,541 
Investments, net - 24,354 35,139 16,086 13,760 - 89,339 
Loans to customers and accrued         
   interest receivable, net - 38,194 3,442 25,079 4,084 - 70,799 
Other assets - 1,398 - - - 406 1,804 
        

Total financial assets 3,674 111,509 46,208 65,193 29,825 456 256,865 

        
Financial liabilities        
Deposits 111,818 16,307 2,572 - - - 130,697 
Interbank and money market items 7,789 6,850 - - - - 14,639 
Liabilities payable on demand 2,191 - - - - - 2,191 
Derivative liabilities 243 3,838 7,156 25,092 10,712 - 47,041 
Debt issued and borrowings - - 6,560 4,831 4,768 - 16,159 
Other liabilities - 7,126 - - - 1,530 8,656 
        

Total financial liabilities 122,041 34,121 16,288 29,923 15,480 1,530 219,383 

        

Liquidity gap, net (118,367) 77,388 29,920 35,270 14,345 (1,074) 37,482 
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4 Fair value of financial instruments 
 
 
Fair values hierarchy 
 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined according to the following hierarchy: 
• Level 1 - valuation technique using quoted market price: financial instruments with quoted prices 

for identical instruments in active markets that the Branch can access at the measurement date. 
• Level 2 - valuation technique using observable inputs: financial instruments with quoted prices 

for similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 
inactive markets and financial instruments valued using models where all significant inputs are 
observable. 

• Level 3 - valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: financial instruments valued 
using valuation techniques where one or more significant inputs are unobservable.  

 
Fair values are subject to a control framework designed to ensure that they are either determined or 
validated by a function independent of the risk-taker.  For all financial instruments where fair values 
are determined by reference to externally quoted prices or observable pricing inputs to models, 
independent price determination or validation is utilised.  In inactive markets, the Branch will source 
alternative market information to validate the financial instrument’s fair value, with greater weight 
given to information that is considered to be more relevant and reliable. 
 
For fair values determined using valuation models, the control framework may include, as applicable, 
development or validation by independent support functions of (i) the logic within valuation models; 
(ii) the inputs to those models; (iii) any adjustments required outside the valuation models; and (iv) 
where possible, model outputs.  Valuation models are subject to a process of due diligence and 
calibration before becoming operational and are calibrated against external market data on an 
ongoing basis. 
 
Fair value adjustments 
 
Fair value adjustments are adopted when the Branch considers that there are additional factors that 
would be considered relevant by a market participant that are not incorporated within the valuation 
model. The Branch classifies fair value adjustments as either ‘risk-related’ or ‘model-related’. The 
majority of these adjustments relate to Global Banking and Markets. 
 
Risk-related adjustments 
 
Bid-offer 
 
IFRS 13 requires use of the price within the bid-offer spread that is most representative of fair value. 
Valuation models will typically generate mid-market values.  The bid-offer adjustment reflects the 
extent to which bid-offer costs would be incurred if substantially all residual net portfolio market risks 
were closed using available hedging instruments or by disposing of, or unwinding the position. 
 
Uncertainty 
 
Certain model inputs may be less readily determinable from market data, and/or the choice of model 
itself may be more subjective.  In these circumstances, there exists a range of possible values that 
the financial instrument or market parameter may assume and an adjustment may be necessary to 
reflect the likelihood that in estimating the fair value of the financial instrument, market participants 
would adopt more conservative values for uncertain parameters and/or model assumptions than 
those used in the valuation model. 
 
Credit valuation adjustment 
 
The credit valuation adjustment is an adjustment to the valuation of over-the-counter (“OTC”) 
derivative contracts to reflect within fair value the possibility that the counterparty may default and 
the Branch may not receive the full market value of the transactions.   
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 

Fair value adjustments (Cont’d) 
 

Debit valuation adjustment 
 

The debit valuation adjustment is an adjustment to the valuation of OTC derivative contracts to 
reflect within fair value the possibility that the Branch may default, and that the Branch may not pay 
full market value of the transactions. 

 

Funding fair value adjustment 
 

The funding fair value adjustment is calculated by applying future market funding spreads to the 
expected future funding exposure of any uncollateralised component of the OTC derivative portfolio.  
This includes the uncollateralised component of collateralised derivatives in addition to derivatives 
that are fully uncollateralised.  The expected future funding exposure is calculated by a simulation 
methodology, where available.  The expected future funding exposure is adjusted for events that 
may terminate the exposure such as the default of the Branch or the counterparty.  The funding fair 
value adjustment and debit valuation adjustment are calculated independently. 

 

Model-related adjustments 
 

Model limitation 
 

Models used for portfolio valuation purposes may be based upon a simplifying set of assumptions 
that do not capture all material market characteristics.  Additionally, markets evolve, and models that 
were adequate in the past may require development to capture all material market characteristics in 
current market conditions.  In these circumstances, model limitation adjustments are adopted.  As 
model development progresses, model limitations are addressed within the valuation models and a 
model limitation adjustment is no longer needed. 
 

Inception profit (Day 1 profit or loss reserves)  
 

Inception profit adjustments are adopted when the fair value estimated by a valuation model is 
based on one or more significant unobservable inputs. 

 

Credit valuation adjustment/debit valuation adjustment methodology 
 

The Group calculates a separate credit valuation adjustment (“CVA”) and debit valuation adjustment 
(“DVA”) for each Group legal entity, and within each entity for each counterparty to which the entity 
has exposure.  The Branch calculates the CVA by applying the probability of default (“PD”) of the 
counterparty conditional on the non-default of the Branch, to the expected positive exposure of the 
Branch to the counterparty, and multiplying the result by the loss expected in the event of default.  
Conversely, the Branch calculates the DVA by applying the PD of the Branch, conditional on the 
non-default of the counterparty, to the expected positive exposure of the counterparty to the Branch, 
and multiplying by the loss expected in the event of default.  Both calculations are performed over 
the life of the potential exposure.  
 

For most products, the Branch uses a simulation methodology to calculate the expected positive 
exposure to a counterparty.  This incorporates a range of potential exposures across the portfolio of 
transactions with the counterparty over the life of portfolio.  The simulation methodology includes 
credit mitigants such as counterparty netting agreements and collateral agreements with the 
counterparty. 
 

For certain types of exotic derivatives where the products are not currently supported by the 
simulation, or for derivative exposures in smaller trading locations where the simulation tool is not 
yet available, the Branch adopts alternative methodologies.   
 

The methodologies do not, in general, account for ‘wrong-way risk’.  Wrong-way risk arises when the 
underlying value of the derivative prior to any CVA is positively correlated to the probability of default 
of the counterparty.  When there is significant wrong-way risk, a trade-specific approach is applied to 
reflect the wrong-way risk within the valuation.  
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 
4.1 Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value  
 

The following table presents the Branch’s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value by 
fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2016. 
 
 2016 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 

Financial assets     
Financial assets at fair value through  
   profit or loss 

    

Trading investments  9,789 12,142 - 21,931 
Derivatives 21 37,684 8 37,713 
Available-for-sale financial assets     
Debt securities  11,992 50,786 - 62,778 
     

Total financial assets 21,802 100,612 8 122,422 

     
Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities at fair value through  
   profit or loss 

    

Debt issued and borrowings  - 8,763 326 9,089 
Derivatives 14 37,467 - 37,481 
     

Total financial liabilities 14 46,230 326 46,570 

 
Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair values during the year 2016 can be summarised as 
follows: 

 
 Assets 

 

Trading 
investment 

Available-
for-sale 

financial 
assets 

 Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

At 31 December 2016   
Transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 147 - 
Transfers from Level 2 to Level 1 2 3,502 
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 

4.1 Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value (Cont’d) 
 
The following table presents the Branch’s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value by 
fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2015. 
 
 2015 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 

Financial assets     
Financial assets at fair value through  
   profit or loss 

    

Trading investments  13,217 10,271 - 23,488 
Claims on security - 3,031 - 3,031 
Derivatives 5,347 42,177 17 47,541 
Available-for-sale financial assets     
Debt securities  9,079 56,772 - 65,851 
     

Total financial assets 27,643 112,251 17 139,911 

     
Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities at fair value through  
   profit or loss 

    

Debt issued and borrowings  - 15,541 618 16,159 
Liabilities to deliver security - 3,031 - 3,031 
Derivatives 6,296 40,745 - 47,041 
     

Total financial liabilities 6,296 59,317 618 66,231 

 
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year 2015. 
 
Fair value valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value 
 
Financial investments 
 
The fair values of financial investments are stated according to the Branch’s accounting 
policies mentioned in note 2. 
 
Derivatives 
 
OTC (i.e. non-exchange traded) derivatives are valued using valuation models.  Valuation 
models calculate the present value of expected future cash flows, based upon ‘no-arbitrage’ 
principles.  For many vanilla derivative products, such as interest rate swaps and European 
options, the modelling approaches used are standard across the industry.  For more complex 
derivative products, there may be some differences in market practice.  Inputs to valuation 
models are determined from observable market data wherever possible, including prices 
available from exchanges and third parties such as dealers, brokers or providers of consensus 
pricing.  Certain inputs may not be observable in the market directly, but can be determined 
from observable prices via model calibration procedures or estimated from historical data or 
other sources. Examples of inputs that may be unobservable include volatility surfaces, in 
whole or in part, for less commonly traded option products, and correlations between market 
factors such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices. 
 
Derivative products valued using valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs 
included certain types of correlation products, such as foreign exchange basket options, equity 
basket options, foreign exchange interest rate hybrid transactions and long-dated option 
transactions.  Examples of the latter are equity options, interest rate and foreign exchange options.    
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 

4.1 Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value (Cont’d) 
 

Fair value valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value (Cont’d) 
 
Structured notes 
 

The fair value of structured notes valued using a valuation technique with significant 
unobservable inputs is derived from the fair value of the underlying debt security and the fair 
value of the embedded derivative is determined as described in the above paragraph on 
derivatives. 
 

Level 3 structured notes principally comprise equity-linked notes which are issued by the 
Branch and provide the counterparty with a return that is linked to the performance of certain 
equity securities and other portfolios.  The notes are classified as Level 3 due to the 
unobservability of parameters such as long-dated equity volatilities and correlations between 
equity prices, between equity prices and interest rates and between interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates. 
 

Reconciliation of fair value measurements in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 
 

The following table presents the movement between opening and closing balance of Level 3 
financial instruments, measured at fair value using a valuation technique with significant 
unobservable inputs for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 

 

Derivatives 
assets 

Trading liabilities 
at fair value 

through           
profit or loss 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

At 1 January 2016 17 618 
Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss (10) (3) 
Settlements 1 (7) 
Transfers out - (282) 
   

At 31 December 2016 8 326 
   

Unrealised gains or losses for the period included  
   in profit or loss for assets/liabilities held at  
   31 December 2016 (9) 1 
 

Transfers out of Level 3 trading liabilities at fair value through profit or loss principally certain 
model inputs become observable. 
 

Effect of changes in significant unobservable assumptions to reasonably possible 
alternatives 
 

The following table shows the sensitivity of Level 3 fair values to reasonably possible 
alternative assumptions: 
 

 Reflected in profit or loss 

 
Favorable 

change  
Unfavorable 

change 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Other derivatives  1 (1) 
   

At 31 December 2016 1 (1) 
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 
4.1 Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value (Cont’d) 

 
Reconciliation of fair value measurements in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Cont’d) 
 
The following table presents the movement between opening and closing balance of Level 3 
financial instruments, measured at fair value using a valuation technique with significant 
unobservable inputs for the year ended 31 December 2015. 
 
 

Derivatives 
assets 

Trading liabilities 
at fair value 

through           
profit or loss 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

At 1 January 2015 162 617 
Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss 42 11 
Settlements - (10) 
Transfers out (187) - 
   

At 31 December 2015 17 618 

   
Unrealised gains or losses for the period included  
   in profit or loss for assets/liabilities held at  
   31 December 2015 17 1 
 
Transfers out of Level 3 derivative assets principally certain model inputs become observable. 
 
Effect of changes in significant unobservable assumptions to reasonably possible 
alternatives 
 
The following table shows the sensitivity of Level 3 fair values to reasonably possible 
alternative assumptions: 
. 
 
 Reflected in profit or loss 

 
Favorable 

change  
Unfavorable 

change 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Other derivatives  1 (1) 
   

At 31 December 2015 1 (1) 

 
Favourable and unfavourable changes are determined on the basis of sensitivity analysis.  
The sensitivity analysis aims to measure a range of fair values consistent with the application 
of a 95% confidence interval.  Methodologies take account of the nature of the valuation 
technique employed, as well as the availability and reliability of observable proxy and historical 
data.  When the available data is not amenable to statistical analysis, the quantification of 
uncertainty is judgemental, but remains guided by the 95% confidence interval. 
 
When the fair value of a financial instrument is affected by more than one unobservable 
assumption, the above table reflects the most favourable or the most unfavourable change 
from varying the assumptions individually. 
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 
4.1 Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value (Cont’d) 
 

Key unobservable inputs to Level 3 financial instruments 
 
The table below lists key unobservable inputs to Level 3 financial instruments and provides the range of those inputs as at 31 December 2016.  The 
core range of inputs is the estimated range within which 90% of the inputs fall.  A further description of the categories of key unobservable inputs is 
given as follows: 
 
Quantitative information about significant unobservable inputs in Level 3 valuations 
 
 Fair value     

 Assets Liabilities    Core range of 
 Million  Million   Key unobservable Full range of inputs inputs 

 Baht Baht Valuation technique inputs Lower Higher Lower Higher 
         

Other derivatives          
Interest rate derivatives 8 - Model - Discounted cash flows IR basis 2.4% 2.6% 2.4% 2.6% 

         
Structure notes         

Equity link notes - 326 Model - Option model Equity correlation 89.4% 99.6% 89.4% 99.6% 
         

At 31 December 2016 8  326       
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 
4.1 Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value (Cont’d) 
 

Key unobservable inputs to Level 3 financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
The table below lists key unobservable inputs to Level 3 financial instruments and provides the range of those inputs as at 31 December 2015.  The 
core range of inputs is the estimated range within which 90% of the inputs fall.  A further description of the categories of key unobservable inputs is 
given as follows: 

 
Quantitative information about significant unobservable inputs in Level 3 valuations 

 
 Fair value     

 Assets Liabilities    Core range of 
 Million  Million   Key unobservable Full range of inputs inputs 

 Baht Baht Valuation technique inputs Lower Higher Lower Higher 
         

Other derivatives         
Interest rate derivatives 17 - Model - Discounted cash flows IR basis 2.8% 3.0% 2.8% 3.0% 
FX option - - Model - Option model FX volatility 7.6% 12.2% 8.1% 12.2% 

         
Structure notes         

Equity link notes - 275 Model - Option model Equity volatility 23.4% 23.4% 23.4% 23.4% 
 - 343 Model - Option model Equity correlation 89.4% 99.1% 89.4% 99.1% 
         

At 31 December 2015 17 618       
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 

4.1 Fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value (Cont’d) 
 

Volatility 
 
Volatility is a measure of the anticipated future variability of a market price.  Volatility tends to 
increase in stressed market conditions, and decrease in calmer market conditions.  Volatility is 
an important input in the pricing of options.  In general, the higher the volatility, the more 
expensive the option will be.  This reflects both the higher probability of an increased return 
from the option and the potentially higher costs that the Branch may incur in hedging the risks 
associated with the option.  If option prices become more expensive, this will increase the 
value of the Branch’s long option positions (i.e. the positions in which the Branch has 
purchased options), while the Branch’s short option positions (i.e. the positions in which the 
Branch has sold options) will suffer losses. 
 
Volatility varies by underlying reference market price, and by strike and maturity of the option.  
Volatility also varies over time.  As a result, it is difficult to make general statements regarding 
volatility levels.  For example, while it is generally the case that foreign exchange volatilities 
are lower than equity volatilities, there may be examples in particular currency pairs or for 
particular equities where this is not the case. 
 
Certain volatilities, typically those of a longer-dated nature, are unobservable.  The unobservable 
volatility is then estimated from observable data.  For example, longer-dated volatilities may be 
extrapolated from shorter-dated volatilities.  The range of unobservable volatilities quoted in 
the above table reflects the wide variation in volatility inputs by reference market price.  For 
example, foreign exchange volatilities for a pegged currency may be very low, whereas for 
non-managed currencies the foreign exchange volatility may be higher.  As a further example, 
volatilities for deep-in-the-money or deep-out-of-the-money equity options may be significantly 
higher than at-the-money options.  The core range is significantly narrower than the full range 
because these examples with extreme volatilities occur relatively rarely within the Branch portfolio.  

 
Correlation 
 
Correlation is a measure of the inter-relationship between two market prices and is expressed 
as a number between minus one and plus one. A positive correlation implies that the two 
market prices tend to move in the same direction, with a correlation of one implying that they 
always move in the same direction. A negative correlation implies that the two market prices 
tend to move in opposite directions, with a correlation of minus one implying that the two 
market prices always move in opposite directions. Correlation is used to value more complex 
instruments where the payout is dependent upon more than one market price. For example, 
an equity basket option has a payout that is dependent upon the performance of a basket of 
single stocks, and the correlation between the price movements of those stocks will be an 
input to the valuation. This is referred to as equity-equity correlation. There is a wide range of 
instruments for which correlation is an input, and consequently a wide range of both same-
asset correlations (e.g. equity-equity correlation) and cross-asset correlations (e.g. foreign 
exchange rate-interest rate correlation) used. In general, the range of same-asset correlations 
will be narrower than the range of cross-asset correlations. 
 
Correlation may be unobservable. Unobservable correlations may be estimated based upon a 
range of evidence, including consensus pricing services, the Branch trade prices, proxy 
correlations and examination of historical price relationships.   
 
The range of unobservable correlations quoted in the table reflects the wide variation in 
correlation inputs by market price pair.  For any single unobservable correlation, the uncertainty 
in the correlation determination is likely to be less than the range quoted above. 
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 

4.2 Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value  
 

The following table presents the Branch’s financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value 
by fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2016. 
 
 2016 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 

Financial assets     
Cash 29 - - 29 
Interbank and money market items, net - 35,951 - 35,951 
Loans to customers and      
   accrued interest receivables - - 66,202 66,202 
     

Total financial assets 29 35,951 66,202 102,182 

     
Financial liabilities     
Deposits - 105,691 - 105,691 
Interbank and money market items - 25,525 - 25,525 
     

Total financial liabilities - 131,216 - 131,216 

 
 
The following table presents the Branch’s financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value 
by fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2015. 
 
 2015 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 

Financial assets     
Cash 50 - - 50 
Interbank and money market items, net - 47,342 - 47,342 
Loans to customers and      
   accrued interest receivables - - 71,644 71,644 
     

Total financial assets 50 47,342 71,644 119,036 

     
Financial liabilities     
Deposits - 130,697 - 130,697 
Interbank and money market items - 14,639 - 14,639 
     

Total financial liabilities - 145,336 - 145,336 
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4 Fair value of financial instruments (Cont’d) 
 
 

4.2 Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value (Cont’d) 
 

Fair value valuation of financial instruments not carried at fair value 
 

Other financial instruments not carried at fair value are typically short-term in nature and 
reprice to current market rates frequently.  Accordingly, their carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value.  This includes cash and balances at central banks, interbank and 
money market items (assets and liabilities), all of which are measured at amortised cost. 
 

Loans and advances to customers 
 

The fair value of loans to customers are considered to be materially consistent with the 
carrying value as the majority of loans are at the market variable rate of interest and allowance 
for doubtful accounts for certain non-performing loans are considered to materially reflect the 
credit risk inherent in the portfolio at the statement of financial position date.   
 

Floating rate loans to customers that reprice frequently and have no significant change in 
credit risk, fair value approximates its carrying value at the reporting date.  The fair value of 
fixed rate loans to customers that reprice within one year of the reporting date approximates 
the carrying value at the reporting date.  The fair value of other fixed interest loans to 
customers is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis and using interest rated currently 
being offered for loans to customers with similar credit quality. 
 

Deposits 
 

Fair value of deposit repayable on demand and its carrying amount of deposit repricing within 
one year are approximated by their carrying value at the reporting date.  The fair value of other 
fixed interest deposits is estimated using discounted cash flows, applying current rates being 
offered for deposits of similar remaining maturity. 
 
 

5 Maintenance of capital fund 
 
 

The Branch maintains its capital funds in accordance with Section 32 of the Financial Institution 
Business Act, B.E. 2551 by maintaining its capital fund as a proportion of risk assets in accordance 
with the criteria, methodologies, and conditions prescribed by the Bank of Thailand as at 31 December 
2016 and 2015, can be summarised as follows: 
 

 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Assets maintained under Section 32 21,990 21,268 

Sum of net capital for maintenance of assets under Section 32   
   and net balance of inter-office accounts   
Net fund brought in to maintenance assets under Section 32 20,100 20,100 
Net balance of inter-office accounts which the branch is the debtor    
   (the creditor) to the head office and other branches of the same    

   juristic person, the parent company and subsidiaries of the head office 10,136 14,470 
   

Total 30,236 34,570 

   

Regulatory Capital (in million Baht) 20,100 20,100 
Regulatory Capital after deducting capital add-on from Single 

Lending Limit (in million Baht) 
 

19,828 
 

19,271 
Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 18.70 17.41 
Capital Adequacy Ratio after deducting capital add-on from 

Single Lending Limit (%) 
 

18.44 
 

16.69 
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5 Maintenance of capital fund (Cont’d) 
 
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Branch has applied the Standardised Approach (“SA”) for 
credit risk and operational risk and the Combined Approach between Standardised Approach and 
Internal Model for market risk as approved by the Bank of Thailand and in accordance with the Bank 
of Thailand notification. 
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Branch met the minimum Capital Adequacy Ratio 
requirements set down by the Bank of Thailand, which is in compliance with the Basel III for Capital 
Adequacy Ratio at minimum of 8.5% plus capital conservation buffer of 2.5%.  The conservation 
buffer are being phased in: starting at 0.625% on 1 January 2016 and increasing a further 0.625% 
each year in order to reach 2.5% on 1 January 2019. 
 
In accordance with the Bank of Thailand Notification No. Sor Nor Sor 4/2556 dated 2 May 2013, Re: 
“The Public Disclosure of Capital Maintenance for Commercial Banks”, the Branch intends to 
disclose Capital Maintenance information as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 within 4 months after 
the year end date as indicated in the notification through the Branch’s website www.hsbc.co.th. 
 
In 2015, the Bank of Thailand approved the increase in capital of the Branch amounting from Baht 
18,750 million to Baht 20,100 million being effective on 2 June 2015.  The Branch transferred the 
amount from retained earnings with the approval from head office. 
 
 

6 Interbank and money market items, net (assets) 
 
 2016 2015 

 At call Term Total At call Term Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
       

Domestic       
The Bank of Thailand and       
   Financial Institutions       
   Development Fund 2,457 3,055 5,512 3,124 6,298 9,422 
Commercial banks 382 28,622 29,004 135 37,328 37,463 
Other financial institutions - 589 589 200 - 200 
Add Accrued interest receivable - 10 10 - 20 20 
Less  Deferred revenue - (1) (1) - (3) (3) 
 Allowance for       

            doubtful accounts - - - (2) (8) (10) 
       

Total domestic 2,839 32,275 35,114 3,457 43,635 47,092 

       
Foreign       
US Dollar 421 389 810 46 153 199 
Other currencies 28 - 28 41 - 41 

Less  Deferred revenue - (1) (1) - - - 
       

Total foreign 449 388 837 87 153 240 
       

Total domestic and foreign 3,288 32,663 35,951 3,544 43,788 47,332 

 
  

http://www.citibank.co.th/
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7 Derivatives 
 
 
Derivatives held for trading 
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, fair value and notional amount of derivatives classified by type of 
risks are as follows: 
 
 2016 

 Fair value Notional amount 

Type of risk Assets Liabilities Up to 1 year Over 1 year Total 
 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 
      

Exchange rate 19,425 19,940 486,447 281,164 767,611 
Interest rate 17,848 17,265 570,030 1,146,886 1,716,916 
Others      
- Equities 6 - 104 192 296 

- Bond 434 276 1,750 5,450 7,200 
      

Total 37,713 37,481 1,058,331 1,433,692 2,492,023 

 
 2015 

 Fair value Notional amount 

Type of risk Assets Liabilities Up to 1 year Over 1 year Total 
 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 
      

Exchange rate 24,510 25,017 432,994 318,320 751,314 
Interest rate 22,971 21,502 541,968 1,419,221 1,961,189 
Others      
- Equities 54 50 1,272 302 1,574 

- Bond 6 472 5,610 3,650 9,260 
      

Total 47,541 47,041 981,844 1,741,493 2,723,337 

 
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, proportions of the notional amount of derivative transactions, 
classified by counterparties, consisted of: 
 
 2016 2015 

 % % 
   

Counterparty   
Financial institutions 53 48 
Related parties 40 45 
Third parties 7 7 
   

Total 100 100 
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8 Investments, net 
 
 
8.1 Classification of investment in securities 

 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Branch classified investment types, as follows: 
 

 2016 2015 

 Fair value Fair value 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Trading investments   
Government and state enterprise securities 21,445 22,864 

Private debt instruments 486 624 
   

Total 21,931 23,488 

   
Available-for-sale investments   

Government and state enterprise securities 62,778 65,851 
   

Total 62,778 65,851 
   

Total investments, net 84,709 89,339 

 
As at 31 December 2016, investments classified as available-for-sale with market values of 
Baht 21,990 million, Baht 12,052 million and Baht 14,493 million (2015: Baht 21,268 million, 
Baht 19,826 million and nil) were maintained as capital fund under the Bank of Thailand’s 
regulation, pledged with the Bank of Thailand for intraday liquidity facilities and securities 
requirement for settlement and collaterised to other parties under repurchase agreements, 
respectively. 
 
 

8.2  Gain (loss) on remeasurement of available-for-sale investments as follows: 
 

 2016 2015 

 Fair value Fair value 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Gain on investments   
Debt securities 24 144 
Loss on investments   

Debt securities (29) (3) 
   

Total (5) 141 

Less  Deferred tax 1 (28) 
   

Net (4) 113 
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9 Loans to customers and accrued interest receivables, net 
 
 

9.1 Classified by type of loans 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Overdrafts 2,138 1,437 
Loans 57,916 61,932 
Bills 6,211 8,360 

Less Deferred revenue (10) (9) 
   

Total loans to customers net from deferred revenue 66,255 71,720 

Add Accrued interest receivables 150 169 
   

Total loans to customers net from deferred revenue add   
   accrued interest receivables 66,405 71,889 
Less Allowance for doubtful accounts   
 - BoT’s minimum requirement - individual approach (764) (857) 

 - Allowance in excess (326) (233) 
   

Total loans to customers and accrued   

   interest receivables, net 65,315 70,799 

 
 

9.2 Classified by currency and residency of debtors 
 
 2016 2015 

 Domestic Foreign  Total Domestic Foreign  Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
       

Baht 43,609 - 43,609 45,060 - 45,060 
US Dollar 18,335 2,135 20,470 21,170 4,020 25,190 

Other currencies 1,261 915 2,176 1,205 265 1,470 
       

Total* 63,205 3,050 66,255 67,435 4,285 71,720 

 

* Loans to customers net of deferred revenue 
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9 Loans to customers and accrued interest receivables, net (Cont’d) 
 
 

9.3 Classified by type of business and loan classification 
 

 2016 

  Doubtful  
 Pass of loss Total 

 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 
    

Agriculture and mining 1,442 - 1,442 
Industrial and commercial 40,051 218 40,269 
Property and construction 1,804 - 1,804 
Infrastructure and service 21,727 - 21,727 
Home mortgages 347 - 347 

Others 666 - 666 
    

Total* 66,037 218 66,255 

 
* Loans to customers net of deferred revenue 
 

 2015 

  Special  Doubtful  

 Pass mention Substandard of loss Total 

 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 
      

Agriculture and mining 2,485 355 - - 2,840 
Industrial and commercial 46,713 12 - 228 46,953 
Property and construction 2,901 - 15 - 2,916 
Infrastructure and service 18,527 23 - - 18,550 
Home mortgages 295 - - - 295 

Others 166 - - - 166 
      

Total* 71,087 390 15 228 71,720 

 
* Loans to customers net of deferred revenue 
 
 

9.4  Classified by grade 
 

 2016 

 Loans to Net amount Rate used  
 customers to set up to set up  
 and accrued allowance allowance Allowance 
 interest for doubtful for doubtful for doubtful 
 receivables accounts accounts accounts 

 Million Baht Million Baht (%) Million Baht 
     

Allowance as per BoT’s     
   minimum requirement     
- Pass 66,187 60,607 1 613 

- Doubtful of loss 218 151 100 151 
     

Total 66,405 60,758  764 

Allowance in excess    326 
     

Total *    1,090 

 
 Loans to customers net of deferred revenue included accrued interest receivables 
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9 Loans to customers and accrued interest receivables, net (Cont’d) 
 
 

9.4  Classified by grade (Cont’d) 
 

 2015 

 Loans to Net amount Rate used  
 customers to set up to set up  
 and accrued allowance allowance Allowance 
 interest for doubtful for doubtful for doubtful 
 receivables accounts accounts accounts 

 Million Baht Million Baht (%) Million Baht 
     

Allowance as per BoT’s     
   minimum requirement     
- Pass 71,256 64,330 1 651 
- Special mention 390 - 2 - 
- Substandard 15 - 100 - 

- Doubtful of loss 228 206 100 206 
     

Total 71,889 64,536  857 

Allowance in excess    233 
     

Total *    1,090 

 

 Loans to customers net of deferred revenue included accrued interest receivables 
 
 

9.5 Non-performing loans 
 

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015 the Branch had non-performing loans gross (“NPLs 
Gross”) (including financial institutions) based on the BoT notification as follows: 
 

 2016 2015 
   

NPLs, gross (in million Baht) 218 243 
Loans used for NPLs ratio calculation )1( (in million Baht) 99,008 115,796 
Percentage of total loans  )2( 0.22 0.21 
 

(1)  Total loans used for NPLs ratio calculation are loans to customers as presented in the 
statement of financial position and loans to financial institutions as included in inter-bank 
and money market items.   

(2) The ratio of NPLs Gross to total loans before allowance for doubtful accounts of non- 
performing loans. 

 

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015 the Branch had non-performing loans net (“NPLs Net”) 
(including financial institutions) based on the BoT notification as follows: 
 

 2016 2015 
   

NPLs, net (in million Baht) 57 37 
Loans used for NPLs ratio calculation )1( (in million Baht) 98,846 115,589 
Percentage of total loans  )2( 0.06 0.03 
 

(1) Total loans used for NPLs, net ratio calculation are loans to customers as presented in the 
statements of financial position and loans to financial institutions as included in inter-bank 
and money market items after allowance for doubtful accounts of non-performing loans.  

(2) The ratio of NPLs, net to total loans after allowance for doubtful accounts of non-performing 
loans. 

 

As at 31 December 2016, allowance for doubtful accounts of Baht 162 million (2015: Baht 207 
million) have been provided against the Branch’s non-performing loans being those classified 
as substandard, doubtful and doubtful of loss.  
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10 Allowance for doubtful accounts 
 
 
Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts for loans to customers during the year ended  
31 December 2016 and 2015 consisted of: 
 

 2016 

  Special   Doubtful  
 Pass mention Substandard Doubtful of loss Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

 Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
       

Beginning balance 875 8 - - 207 1,090 
Doubtful accounts charge 53 (8) - - (44) 1 

Recovery - - - - (1) (1) 
       

Ending balance 928 - - - 162 1,090 

 
 2015 

  Special   Doubtful  
 Pass mention Substandard Doubtful of loss Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

 Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
       

Beginning balance 700 - - - 350 1,050 
Doubtful accounts charge 175 8 - - (22) 161 
Bad debts written-off - - - - (120) (120) 

Movement in exchange rate - - - - (1) (1) 
       

Ending balance 875 8 - - 207 1,090 

 
 

11 Leasehold right for land and buildings, net 
 

 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Cost 909 909 
Less  Accumulated amortisation (495) (480) 
Less  Loss on impairment (269) (269) 
   

Total 145 160 

 
 

12 Deferred tax assets, net 
 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities determined after netting off are included in the statements of 
financial position as follows: 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 51 11 
Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 160 166 
Deferred tax liability to be settled within 12 months (1) (157) 
Deferred tax liability to be settled after more than 12 months (45) - 
   

Deferred tax asset, net 165 20 
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12 Deferred tax assets, net (Cont’d) 
 
 
Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year ended 31 December 2016 were as 
follows: 
 
  (Charged)/ credited to  
 At  Other At 
 1 January Profit or loss comprehensive 31 December 
 2016 (note 34) income  2016 
 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 
     

Deferred tax assets     
Investments - 40 1 41 
Allowance for doubtful accounts and      
   provision for contingent liabilities 11 (1) - 10 
Provision for impairment 39 (3) - 36 
Others 127 (4) 1 124 
     

Total 177 32 2 211 

     
Deferred tax liabilities     
Investments 157 (129) (28) - 
Borrowings and financial instruments - 45 - 45 
Others - 1 - 1 
     

Total 157 (83) (28) 46 
     

Net 20 115 30 165 

 
Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year ended 31 December 2015 were as 
follows: 
 
  (Charged)/ credited to  
 At  Other At 
 1 January Profit or loss comprehensive 31 December 
 2015 (note 34) income  2015 
 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 
     

Deferred tax assets     
Allowance for doubtful accounts and      
   provision for contingent liabilities 72 (61) - 11 
Provision for impairment 43 (4) - 39 
Others 112 13 2 127 
     

Total 227 (52) 2 177 

     
Deferred tax liabilities     
Investments 87 75 (5) 157 
Borrowings and financial instruments 1 (1) - - 
     

Total 88 74 (5) 157 
     

Net 139 (126) 7 20 
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13 Other assets, net 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Accrued income receivable 317 318 
Margins 746 1,428 
Others 47 58 
   

Total 1,110 1,804 

 
 

14 Classified assets 
 
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, assets of the Branch were categorised by quality in compliance 
with the BoT regulations, taking into account analyses of each loan and appraisal of the financial 
standing of each borrower, as follows: 
 
 2016 

   Loans to  
   customers  
  Interbank and accrued   
  and money interest  
 Investments market  receivables Total 
 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 
     

Pass 84,709 32,763 66,187 183,659 
Doubtful of loss - - 218 218 
     

Total 84,709 32,763 66,405 183,877 

 
 2015 

   Loans to  
   customers  
  Interbank and accrued   
  and money interest  
 Investments market  receivables Total 
 Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht 
     

Pass 89,339 44,096 71,256 204,691 
Special mention - - 390 390 
Substandard - - 15 15 
Doubtful of loss - - 228 228 
     

Total 89,339 44,096 71,889 205,324 

 
Investments are stated at fair value.  As at 31 December 2016, investments classified as doubtful of 
loss according to the BoT’s definition represented unrealised loss on revaluation of Baht 410 million 
(2015: Baht 5 million). 
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15 Deposits 
 
 
15.1 Classified by type of deposits 
 

 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Current 29,237 32,258 
Saving 63,428 79,560 
Term   
- Less than 6 months 12,905 18,772 
- More than 6 months but less than 1 year 121 107 
   

Total 105,691 130,697 

 
 
15.2 Classified by currency and residency of depositors: 

 
 2016 2015 

 Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign Total 

 Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

       

Baht 77,706 1,365 79,071 93,211 1,070 94,281 
US Dollar 21,346 853 22,199 34,905 1,023 35,928 
Other currencies 4,421 - 4,421 482 6 488 
       

Total 103,473 2,218 105,691 128,598 2,099 130,697 

 
 

16 Interbank and money market items (liabilities) 
 

 2016 2015 

 At call Term Total At call Term Total 
 Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
Million 

Baht 
       

Domestic       
Commercial banks 3 8,300 8,303 3 2,000 2,003 
Specialised financial institutions - 6,200 6,200 - 1,000 1,000 
Finance, securities and credit 
   foncier companies 3,181 - 3,181 1,539 3,200 4,739 

Other financial institutions 1,246 690 1,936 1,569 650 2,219 
       

Total domestic 4,430 15,190 19,620 3,111 6,850 9,961 

       
Foreign       
Baht 5,779 - 5,779 4,143 - 4,143 

Other currencies 126 - 126 535 - 535 
       

Total foreign 5,905 - 5,905 4,678 - 4,678 
       

Total domestic and foreign 10,335 15,190 25,525 7,789 6,850 14,639 
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17 Debt issued and borrowings 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Bills of exchange 100 98 
Floating rate notes 8,989 16,061 
   

Total  9,089 16,159 

 
As at 31 December 2016, all borrowings were in Thai Baht with interest rates between 1.08% - 1.83% 
per annum (2015: 1.44% - 2.05% per annum). 
 
 

18 Employee benefit obligations 
 
 
Statement of financial position obligations for 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Post employment benefits   

- Legal severance payment plan and gratuity plan 225 197 

 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Year ended 31 December   
Statement of comprehensive income:   
Recognised in profit or loss   
Post employment benefits   
- Legal severance payment plan and gratuity plan 25 23 
   
Recognised in other comprehensive income   

Actuarial losses recognised during the year 4 11 
   

Total 29 34 

 
The Branch operates the following unfunded defined benefit plans for eligible employees in Thailand 
in accordance with the requirements of the Thai Labour Protection Act B.E. 2541 (1998) to provide 
retirement benefits to employees based on pensionable remuneration and length of service.  
 
Legal severance payment plan 
 
Under this plan, employees are entitled to legal severance payment benefits ranging from 30 days to 
300 days of final salary upon retirement or involuntary separation before retirement.  
 
Gratuity plan 

 
Under this plan, employees are entitled to one month final salary for every five years of completed 
service upon retirement. 
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18 Employee benefit obligations (Cont’d) 
 
 
The statement of financial position obligations were determined as follows: 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Present value of unfunded obligations 225 197 
   

Statement of financial position obligations 225 197 

 
Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations: 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

At 1 January 197 173 
Expense recognised in profit or loss   
Current service costs 19 17 
Interest cost on obligation 6 6 
Benefits paid during the year (1) (10) 

Actuarial losses in other comprehensive income 4 11 
   

At 31 December 225 197 

 
The expense is recognised in profit or loss: 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Other operating expenses   

- Employee expenses 25 23 
   

Total 25 23 

 
Actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income, net of deferred tax. 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

At 1 January 47 38 

Recognised during the year 3 9 
   

At 31 December 50 47 

 
Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date: 
 
 2016 2015 

 (%) (%) 
   

Discount rate 3.0 2.9 
Future average salary increases 3 - 12 3 - 12 
Retirement mortality rate retirement Thai Mortality 

Ordinary 
Table 2008 

Thai Mortality 
Ordinary 

Table 2008 
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18 Employee benefit obligations (Cont’d) 
 
 
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the impact on defined benefit obligations of key assumption 
changes are summarised as follows: 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Discount rate   
- 1.0% decrease 18 18 
- 1.0% increase (16) (16) 

   
Expected rate of salary increase    

- 1.0% decrease (16) (16) 
- 1.0% increase 18 18 

   
Turnover rate   

- 10% decrease in likelihood of turnover 8 8 
- 10% increase in likelihood of turnover (7) (7) 

 
 
Maturity analysis of benefits expected to be paid 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Benefits expected to be paid within 12 months 8 1 
Benefits expected to be paid between 1 and 2 years 8 9 
Benefits expected to be paid between 2 and 5 years 80 57 
Benefits expected to be paid in more than 5 years 157 160 
 
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions 
may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant 
actuarial assumptions the same method as when calculating the pension liability recognised within 
the statement of financial position. 
 
 

19 Provisions 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

At 1 January 173 193 

Provision made (used) (21) (20) 
   

At 31 December 152 173 

 
The above consists of the restructuring provision relating to disposal of retail portfolio and also 
includes provision for contingent liabilities. 

  



The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Bangkok Branch  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2016 

 

 

51 

20 Other liabilities 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Accrued interest expense 48 67 
Accrued expenses 492 553 
Income tax payable 576 10 
Marginal deposit 6,761 7,133 

Others 991 893 
   

Total 8,868 8,656 

 
 

21 Commitments and contingent liabilities 
 
 2016 2015 

 
Baht 

Foreign 
currency Total Baht 

Foreign 
currency Total 

 Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

       

Guarantees of loans 1 673 674 1 642 643 
Other guarantees 19,785 12,465 32,250 19,667 12,886 32,553 
Liabilities under unmatured       
   import bills - 1,302 1,302 24 1,641 1,665 
Letters of credit - 946 946 47 702 749 
Unused credit lines of overdrafts        
   and credit facilities 63,420 20,089 83,509 71,176 25,979 97,155 
       

Total  83,206 35,475 118,681 90,915 41,850 132,765 

 
As at 31 December 2016, the Branch has received a claim in respect of default on sale and 
purchase agreement, bills torts, return of property, and guarantee amount totaling Baht 463 million 
(2015: Baht 463 million) against the Branch.  Litigation is currently waiting for the order of the 
Supreme Court and no provision has been made in the financial statements as the Branch’s 
management does not currently expect that the Branch will incur significant loss from this lawsuit. 
 
Moreover, the Branch also has received a claim in respect of allegation of misconduct to transfer 
fund and closure account without comply with account mandate of Baht 358 million against the 
Branch.  No provision has been made in the financial statements as the Branch’s management does 
not currently expect that the Branch will incur significant loss from this lawsuit. 
 
Long-term lease commitments 
  2016 

Type of lease agreement Remaining period Million Baht 
   

Building and service lease agreements 1 January 2017 - 30 June 2019 16 
Vehicle lease agreements 1 January 2017 - 24 February 2019 6 
Equipment lease agreement 1 January 2017 - 31 August 2021 20 
   

  42 

 
  2015 

Type of lease agreement Remaining period Million Baht 
   

Building and service lease agreements 1 January 2016 - 30 June 2016 3 
Vehicle lease agreements 1 January 2016 - 15 November 2018 10 
Equipment lease agreement 1 February 2016 - 31 January 2020 14 
   

  27 
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22 Related parties 
 
 
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Branch if 
the Branch has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or joint control the party or exercise 
significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or 
where the Branch and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. 
Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 
 
Relationships with significant key management personnel and related parties were as follows: 
 

 Country of  
Name of entities/Personnel incorporation Nature of relationships 

   

Key management personnel Thailand Persons having authority and 
   responsibility for planning, directing 
   and controlling the activities of the 
   Branch, directly or indirectly including 
   any directs (whether executive or 
   otherwise) of the Branch. The 
   Branch’s key management personnel 
   consisted of: 

     - Chief Executive Officer 
     - Chief Financial Officer 
     - Chief Operating Officer 
     - Chief Risk Officer 
     - Head of Global Market 
     - Head of Global Banking 
     - Head of Commercial Banking 
     - Head of Regulatory Compliance 
     - Head of Financial Crime Compliance 
     - Head of Legal  
     - Head of Communications 
     - Head of Human Resources 
   
HSBC Holdings Plc. England Ultimate parent company of the  
     Head Office 
The Hongkong and Shanghai Hong Kong Head Office and other branches 
   Banking Corporation   
   Limited (HBAP)   
   
Other HSBC Group entities   
HSBC Bank Plc. England HSBC Holdings Plc’s subsidiary 
HSBC Bank USA, N.A. United States HSBC Holdings Plc’s subsidiary 
HSBC Private Banking    
   Holdings (Suisse) S.A. Switzerland HSBC Holdings Plc’s subsidiary 
HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG Germany HSBC Holdings Plc’s subsidiary 
HSBC Bank Canada Canada HSBC Holdings Plc’s subsidiary 
HSBC Bank Bermuda Limited Bermuda HSBC Holdings Plc’s subsidiary 
HSBC Bank Australia Limited Australia HBAP’s subsidiary 
HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad Malaysia HBAP’s subsidiary 
HSBC Bank (China) Company People’s Republic of China HBAP’s subsidiary 
   Limited   
HSBC Bank (Taiwan) Limited Taiwan HBAP’s subsidiary 
Hang Seng Bank Limited Hong Kong HBAP’s subsidiary 
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22 Related parties (Cont’d) 
 
 

The pricing policies for particular types of transactions are explained further below: 
 

Transactions Pricing policies 
  

Interest Based on market rate 
Services Contractually agreed price 
Derivatives Based on market price 
 

Significant transactions for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 with the related parties 
were as follows: 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

HBAP   
Interest income on inter-office lending 16 1 
Fee and commission income 63 92 
Interest expense on inter-office borrowing 94 18 
Fee and commission expense 37 46 
Other income 9 - 
Head office expenses 473 533 
Other expenses 27 25 
   
Other HSBC Group entities   
Interest income 1 - 
Fee and commission income 70 84 
Interest expense 1 - 
Fee and commission expense 28 33 
Other income 4 2 
Other expenses 47 27 
 

Significant balances with related parties as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 consisted of: 
 

 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Interbank and money market items (assets)   
HSBC Group entities   
HSBC Bank USA, N.A. 184 45 
HSBC Bank Bermuda Limited 22 - 
HSBC Bank Plc. 12 11 
HSBC Bank Australia Limited 3 11 
HSBC Bank Canada 1 1 
HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad 1 1 
   

Total 223 69 

 

   
Interbank and money market items (liabilities)   
HSBC Group entities   
HSBC Bank USA, N.A. 93 32 
HSBC Bank Plc. 187 518 
HSBC Bank Australia Limited 46 166 
HSBC Bank (Taiwan) Limited 281 3 
Hang Seng Bank Limited 89 93 
HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad 73 48 
HSBC Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) S.A. 18 43 
Others 132 80 
   

Total 919 983 
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22 Related parties (Cont’d) 
 
 
Significant balances with related parties as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 consisted of: (Cont’d)  
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Net balance of inter-office accounts with head office and    
   other branches of the same juristic person   
HBAP   
Nostro accounts (37) (55) 
Vostro accounts 1,168 363 
Lending (6,629) (7) 
Borrowings 14,669 13,310 
Accrued expenses 486 574 
Other payables 9 2 
Other receivables (14) (1) 
   

Total 9,652 14,186 

 
The Branch enters into certain treasury transactions, including swap, foreign exchange, and option 
contracts, with other HSBC Group entities for hedging purposes. 
 
Significant agreements with related parties 
 

(a) Service agreement 
 
The Branch entered into a services agreement with the Head Office relating to the provision of 
certain management and other services to the Branch by the Head Office.  The fees payable 
by the Branch to the Head Office under the services agreement are based on an allocation of 
relevant actual costs. 
 

(b) Outsourcing services 
 
 The Branch entered into service agreements with related parties for certain banking operation, 

financial processing activities and information technology support.  
 
 

23 Benefits paid to directors and executives  
 
 
The Branch has no special benefits given to the directors and executives beyond the general 
benefits provided such as directors’ remuneration, executives’ salary and bonus (if any) included 
ESOP warrants.  
 

 2015 2014 2016 2015 

   Million Baht Million Baht 
     

Short-term employee benefits   155 189 
Post-employment benefits   8 10 
Share-based payment   14 25 
     

Total   177 224 
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24 Share-based payments 
 
 
Income statement charge 
 

 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 

Equity-settled share-based payments   
   

Restricted share awards   21 43 

ShareMatch   1 - 
   

Total 22 43 

 
 
HSBC Share Awards 
 
Award Policy Purpose 
Restricted share 
awards (including 
annual incentive 
awards delivered 
in shares) and 
Group 
Performance 
Shares Plan 
(‘GPSP’) 

• An assessment of performance over the relevant 
period ending on 31 December is used to 
determine the amount of the award to be granted. 

• Deferred awards generally require employees to 
remain in employment over the vesting period 
and are not subject to performance conditions 
after the grant date. 

• Deferred share awards generally vest over a 
period of three years and GPSP awards vest 
after five years. 

• Vested shares may be subject to a retention 
requirement (restriction) post-vesting.  GPSP 
awards are retained until cessation of 
employment. 

• Awards granted from 2010 onwards are subject 
to a malus provision prior to vesting. 

• Awards granted to Material Risk Takers from 
2015 onwards are subject to clawback post 
vesting. 

 

• To drive and reward 
performance consistent with 
strategy and align to 
shareholder interests. 

• Deferral provides an 
incentive for a longer term 
commitment and the ability 
to apply malus. 

International 
Employee Share 
Purchase Plan 
(‘ShareMatch’) 

• Shares are purchased in the market each quarter up 
to a maximum value of £250 or the equivalent in local 
currency. 

• Matching awards are added at a ratio of one free 
share for every three purchased. 

• Matching awards vest subject to continued 
employment and the retention of the purchased 
shares for a maximum period of two years and nine 
months. 

• To align the interests of all 
employees with the creation 
of shareholder value. 

 
Calculation of fair values 
 
The fair value of a share award is based on the share price at the date of the grant. 
 
Movement on HSBC share awards 

 2016 2015 

 Number Number 
   

Outstanding at 1 January 161,116 129,096 
Additions during the year 104,147 118,718 
Released during the year (91,688) (81,856) 

Forfeited during the year (6,702) (4,842) 
   

Outstanding at 31 December 166,873 161,116 

   
Weighted average fair value of awards granted (Baht) 276.75 313.83 
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25 The financial position and results of operations classified by domestic and foreign business 
 
 
The Branch does not present the financial position and results of operations classified by domestic 
and foreign business in the financial statements since the Branch is engaged in only one domestic 
business in Thailand. 
 
 

26 Interest income 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Interbank and money market items 908 889 
Investments and trading transactions 663 552 
Investments in debt securities 949 1,185 

Loans 1,499 1,520 
   

Total interest income 4,019 4,146 

 
 

27 Interest expense 
 

 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Deposits 475 616 
Interbank and money market items 332 166 
Contribution to Deposit Protection Agency 472 479 

Borrowings 409 506 
   

Total interest expense 1,688 1,767 

 
 

28 Net fees and service income 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Fees and service income   
- Acceptances, aval and guarantees 115 132 
- Remittances 288 305 
- Underwriting, management and consulting 193 106 
- Custody 322 296 

- Others 77 98 
   

Total 995 937 

 
Fees and service expenses   
- Remittances 50 54 

- Others 126 135 
   

Total 176 189 
   

Net 819 748 
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29 Net gain on trading and foreign exchange transactions 
 

 2016 2015 
 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Gain on trading and foreign exchange transactions   
- Foreign currencies and foreign currency related derivatives 1,249 2,051 
- Interest rate related derivatives 1,224 (1,040) 
- Debt instruments (278) 760 
   

Total 2,195 1,771 

 
 

30 Net gain on investments 
 

 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Gain on sales of available-for-sale investments - 58 
   

Total - 58 

 
 

31 Bad debts, doubtful accounts expense and impairment loss 
 

 2016 2015 
 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Provision for doubtful accounts (Reversal)   
- Transactions between interbank and money markets (10) 3 
- Loans to customers 1 162 
   

Total (9) 165 

 
 

32 Employee expenses 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Wages, salaries and bonus 956 1,005 
Post employment benefits - defined benefit plans 25 23 
Post employment benefits - defined contribution plans 52 54 
Others 126 139 
   

Total 1,159 1,221 

 
The Branch has established contributory provident funds for their employees. Memberships of the 
funds are on a voluntary basis. Contributions are made monthly by the employees at rates ranging 
from 3% to 15% of their basic salaries and by the Branch at 10% of the employees’ basic salaries. 
The provident funds are registered with the Ministry of Finance as juristic entities and are managed 
by licensed Fund Managers, therefore, they are not included in the statements of financial position. 
 
 

33  Other expenses 
 
 2016 2015 

 Million Baht Million Baht 
   

Expenses allocated from Head Office 266 275 
Others 255 252 
   

Total 521 527 
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34 Income tax expense 
 
 
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 
  2016 2015 
 Note Million Baht Million Baht 
    

Current tax expense    
Current year  779 404 
Over provided in prior year   (10) (16) 
    

  769 388 

    
Deferred tax expense    
Movements in temporary differences 12 (115) 126 
    

Total income tax expense  654 514 

 
Income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income 
 
 2016 2015 

     Tax  

 Before Tax  Before (expense)  

 tax benefit Net of tax tax benefit Net of tax 

 Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

Million 
Baht 

       

Available-for-sale       
   investments (146) 29 (117) (26) 5 (21) 
Defined benefit plans       
   actuarial losses (4) 1 (3) (11) 2 (9) 

Others - - - 7 - 7 
       

Total (150) 30 (120) (30) 7 (23) 

 
Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

 2016 2015 

 Rate   Rate   

 (%) Million Baht (%) Million Baht 
     

Profit before income tax expense  3,267  2,576 
Income tax using the Thai      
   corporation tax rate 20.0 653 20.0 515 
Expenses not deductible for tax     
   purposes 0.3 11 0.6 15 

Over provided in prior year (0.3) (10) (0.6) (16) 
     

Total 20.0 654 20.0 514 

 
 
Income tax reduction 
 
According to Revenue Code Amendment Act (No. 42) B.E. 2559 dated 3 March 2016 grants a 
reduction in the prescribed standard rate at corporate tax in the revenue code from 30% to 20% 
starting from the accounting period of 2016. 
 
The Branch has applied the reduced tax rate of 20% in measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities 
as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 in accordance with the clarification issued by the FAP in 2012. 
 


